Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 9507-9522

Tetrahedron report number 770

Recent applications of 2,4,6-trichloro-1,3,5-triazine and its derivatives in organic synthesis

Grzegorz Blotny*

Department of Chemistry and Biochemistry, University of Maryland Baltimore County, 1000 Hilltop Circle, Baltimore, MD 21250, USA

Received 21 June 2006 Available online 14 August 2006

Contents

1.	Introduction	9507
2.	2,4,6-Trichloro-1,3,5-triazine (CC)	9508
3.	Applications of CC in synthesis of substituted s-triazines	9509
4.	CC in dendrimers synthesis and supramolecular complexes	9511
5.	Cyanuric chloride in functional group transformation	9511
6.	Cyanuric chloride in solid-phase synthesis	9514
7.	2-Chloro-4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazine in functional group transformation	9514
8.	Applications of other derivatives of s-triazine in organic synthesis	9517
9.	Conclusion	9518
	Acknowledgements	9519
	References and notes	
	Biographical sketch	9522

1. Introduction

1,3,5-Triazine derivatives have been known for a long period of time. They have found widespread applications in the pharmaceutical, textile, plastic, and rubber industries, and are used as pesticides, dyestuffs, optical bleaches, explosives, and surface active agents. The chemistry of this group

of compounds has been studied intensively and has been the subject of many reviews. $^{1-6}$

Development of valuable methods for the preparation of many substances is still a challenge. The main issues in modern synthetic organic chemistry are selectivity, mildness, improvement of efficiency, and the avoidance of toxic reagents and by-products. From this point of view, considerable attention has been devoted to the development of new 1,3,5-triazine derivatives as reagents in organic synthesis.

Because common, nonsystematic nomenclature is prevalent in the chemical literature of triazine, it is important to briefly review the systematic and common names of some important derivatives, which are shown in Figure 1.

All of the *s*-triazine derivatives that have wide practical applications are 2,4,6-mono, di- or tri-substituted, symmetrical and nonsymmetrical compounds bearing different substituents. The most important reagent for obtaining these compounds is cyanuric chloride (CC), because of the

Keywords: 2,4,6-Trichloro-1,3,5-triazine; 2-Chloro-4,6-dimethoxy-s-triazine; Functional group transformations.

Abbreviations: CA, cyanuric acid; ICA, isocyanuric acid; CC, cyanuric chloride; TCICA, trichloroisocyanuric acid; M, melamine; BNCT, boron neutron capture therapy; TEMPO, 2,2,6,6-tetramethyl piperidine-1-oxyl; Z, benzyloxycarbonyl; Boc, tert-butoxycarbonyl; Fmoc, 9-fluorenyl-methoxycarbonyl; NMM, 4-methylmorpholine; DMF, dimethylformamid; MW, microwave irradiation; DMSO, dimethylsulfoxide; PEG, polyethylene glycol; CDMT, 2-chloro-4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazine; DMTMM, 4-(4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazin-2-yl)-4-methylmorpholinium chloride; FCDMT, 2-chloro-4,6-bis[(heptadecafluorononyl)oxy]-1,3,5-triazine; CF, 2,4,6-tri-fluoro-1,3,5-triazine; Trt, trityl; THF, tetrahydrofuran; TEA, triethylamine; Py, pyridine; m-CPBA, meta-chloroperbenzoic acid; DME, 1,2-dimethoxy-ethane; DIPEA, diisopropylethylamine.

^{*} Tel.: +1 410 4552564; fax: +1 410 4552608; e-mail: blotny@umbc.edu

Figure 1.

reactivity of its chlorine atoms toward nucleophiles. It is also important to stress that CC is commercially available and a very inexpensive reagent, which makes its applications even more attractive. In this review, the synthesis of new 2,4,6-derivatives of 1,3,5-triazine together with novel applications of cyanuric chloride and its derivatives, in a variety of synthetic transformations, will be presented. Because of the large volume of work in this area, only the most relevant recently published applications will be presented.

2. 2,4,6-Trichloro-1,3,5-triazine (CC)

The ease of displacement of chlorine atoms in cyanuric chloride by various nucleophiles, in the presence of a hydrochloride acceptor (usually sodium carbonate, bicarbonate, hydroxide or tertiary amines), makes this reagent useful for the preparation of mono-, di- and tri-substituted 1,3,5-tri-azines.² The substitution of chlorine can be controlled by temperature to run in a stepwise manner. An empirical rule, based upon observation, is that mono-substitution of chlorine occurs below or at 0 °C, di-substitution at room temperature and tri-substitution above 60 °C (Scheme 1).

The substitution pattern also depends on the structure of the nucleophile, its basic strength and steric factors, the substituent already present in the *s*-triazine ring and the nature of solvent used. Therefore the empirical rule given above is just a rough guideline, and there are many variations from these conditions. By controlling the temperature, time, and optimization of variables, such as solvent and base, the substitution of chlorine in CC with different substituents can be accomplished in one pot, if the correct order of addition of nucleophiles is followed (e.g., O-nucleophiles followed by

N-nucleophiles). For example, Menicagli ^{7,8} achieved nearly quantitave yields of both symmetric and nonsymmetric mono-, di- and tri-substituted alkoxy and amino 1,3,5-tri-azines by nucleophilic substitution of CC in one pot in the presence of a catalytic amount of 18-crown-6.

A new orthogonal method for solid-phase synthesis of 2,4,6-trisubstituted 1,3,5-triazine was developed by Chang et al. 9,10 They attached a primary amine to an aldehyde resin by reductive amination. This was then reacted with separately prepared mono-substituted dichloro-s-triazine. The trisubstituted derivatives were obtained by nucleophilic reaction with an amine, 9 or by a Suzuki coupling reaction with phenylboronic acid. 9 Cleavage of the resin gave the trisubstituted product (Scheme 2) with high purity. Unfortunately, the authors did not report the yields of this reaction. 9,10

An interesting strategy based on sulfones was presented by the same authors.¹¹ Separately synthesized 2-benzylsulfanyl-2,6-dichloro-1,3,5-triazine was reacted with amine bonded to the resin. After substitution of the third chlorine atom with a primary or secondary amine, the thioether was oxidized to benzyl sulfone generating a good leaving group. Reaction with another amine and cleavage of the resin gave the trisubstituted *s*-triazine (Scheme 3).

To avoid harsh conditions in the substitution of the last chlorine atom by an amino group Simanek et al. 12 treated chlorotriazine with either triphenylmethylamine and diphenylmethylamine or 2,4-dimethoxybenzylamine. The substitution was accomplished in 5–15 min using microwave technique. The acid labile benzylic groups were removed by trifluoroacetic acid giving the product with high yield.

HNu₁, HNu₂, HNu₃ = N, O, P, S, F nucleophiles ⁵

Scheme 2.

Scheme 3.

3. Applications of CC in synthesis of substituted *s*-triazines

Falorni et al.¹³ synthesized tri-functionalized orthogonally protected templates **1** (Fig. 2) in a one-pot procedure, which was used in a liquid-phase parallel synthesis.

By reacting CC with 3 equiv of *p*-hydroxybenzaldehyde, Tahmassebi and Sasaki¹⁴ obtained, a triangular- 'tripod' in

Figure 2.

a single step **2** (Fig. 2). It was used for the imprinting of a silica surface¹⁴ or for linking to N-terminus peptides by reductive amination to assemble three-helix bundle proteins.¹⁵ A linear template- 'dipod' **3** was also synthesized using a 2,4-dichloro-6-methoxy-1,3,5-triazine with 2 equiv of aldehyde, instead of CC.¹⁶

Gustafson,¹⁷ for the first time, incorporated a triazine ring in carbohydrates, peptides, aminimides, and α -ketoamides by the selective derivatization of CC in a one-pot procedure using automated parrallel solution synthesis, e.g., 4 (Fig. 2).

Recently, the synthesis of a novel disubstituted exocyclic triazylamino nucleoside **5** (Fig. 3) library was reported using a stepwise amination of CC on a semiautomated synthesizer. ^{18,19} The natural mimic nucleosides were obtained as potential antitumor and antiviral agents.

The temperature dependent reactivity of CC was exploited for the synthesis of different kinds of calix[n]arens, 20,21 e.g., **6** and **7** (Fig. 3), as well as macrocycles containing triazine moeties linked by diamines, 22 e.g., **8** (Fig. 3). Because of the presence of many hydrogen bond donors and acceptors these compounds exhibit very promising binding properties. CC was also used to link a calix[4]arene to a carbohydrate natural polymer. 23

By stepwise amination of CC with 5-(4-aminophenyl)-10,15,20-triphenylporphyrin, Carofiglio et al.²⁴ synthesized

Figure 3.

porphyrin-dyads. Similarly amination with aminoporphyrin produced Zn(II) complex metaloporphyrin dyads like **9** (Fig. 3). CC was also used for obtaining porphyrin oligomers. ²⁵ These compounds have found various applications like mimicking the selectivity and reactivity of enzymes, and as material for optoelectronics.

Zerkowski²⁶ utilized triazinyl amino acid **10** (Fig. 3) as building block for unnatural peptide analogs, which were obtained from CC by nucleophilic substitution with diamines and amino acid esters. The third chlorine in the triazine ring can be used for incorporation of other functionalities, or for attachment to a solid-phase resin. Several macrocyclic pseudopeptides were synthesized using these derivatives.

Recently, different *o*-carboranyl derivatives of 1,3,5-triazine were synthesized from CC as tumor targeting agents for boron neutron capture therapy (BNCT). One, two or three *o*-carboranyl residues were incorporated into *s*-triazine.^{27–29}

The remaining chlorine atoms were substituted by various amines^{27,28} or acids,²⁹ e.g., **11** and **12** (Fig. 4).

A new Sharpless asymmetric ligand was synthesized using CC, quinine, and 4-bromoaniline³⁰ **13** (Fig. 4). This new catalyst is inexpensive, and gives a good yield and enantioselectivity in the dihydroxylation of alkenes.

The carbon nitride was synthesized by heating CC and sodium azide in benzene at 220 °C, which forms high quality nanotubes **14** (Fig. 4), by self-assembly.³¹

A fluorous derivative of a radical 2,2,6,6-tetramethyl piperidine-1-oxyl (TEMPO) was synthesized using CC **15** (Fig. 4), which is efficient, selective, and an easily recoverable catalyst for oxidation of alcohols.³²

 N^{α} -dichlorotriazinyl-arginylalkyl-amide monohydrochlorides, e.g., **16** (Fig. 4) were synthesized as new surfactants for application as antimicrobial and antihelminthic agents

Figure 4.

for wool and cotton, to protect these material from degradation. 33

4. CC in dendrimers synthesis and supramolecular complexes

Controlling the reaction temperature of CC with different diamines allowed Simanek's group^{34–40} and Lai et al.⁴¹ to synthesize dendrimers, e.g., **17** (Fig. 5), even without employing protection and deprotection processes. They have potential applications in medicine as vehicles for drug delivery, and in the area of electro- and optomaterials.

Triazine derivatives, such as cyanuric or isocyanuric acids and melamines (obtained from CC), can act as both hydrogen bond donors and acceptors. The hydrogen-bonding networks that form between them are responsible for forming supramolecular, well defined and stable aggregates. These aggregates were first described by Lehn⁴² and by Whitesides. The noncovalently bonded assemblies can exist in different forms, e.g., as a cyclic rosette **18** (Fig. 5), and have been the subject of many structural studies 44–53 and reviews. The Reinhoudt group 46,52,56,57 combined synthesized calix[4] arene dimelamine with cyanuric or barbituric acid, and studied the aggregates formed between them.

5. Cyanuric chloride in functional group transformation

In spite of the enormous number of publications devoted to functional group transformation, ⁵⁸ there is still a need for

mild methods that exhibit selectivity among functional groups, especially in the case of polyfunctional derivatives. In the older literature, one can find examples of applications of 2,4,6-trichloro-1,3,5-triazine in synthesis. ^{59–66} Recently there has been a considerable growth of interest in the use of cyanuric chloride and its derivatives in organic synthesis.

Cyanuric chloride is often used for activation of carboxylic acids in various transformations. There is disagreement about the initial product of the reaction of carboxylic acids with CC. Some claim that the product is acid chloride, ^{59,61–63,67} which was isolated and characterized in some cases. Others ^{68–72} argue that the acylated *s*-triazine is an intermediate, but there is a lack of direct proof of its formation. ⁷³

Falorni⁶⁸ reported that carboxylic acids, including *N*-protected amino acids, can be activated with CC and subsequently reduced to their corresponding alcohols with sodium borohydride in water (Scheme 4). This method is particularly suitable for the reduction of *N-Z*, *N*-Boc, and *N*-Fmoc amino acids, and results in high yields without racemization. The authors suggest that 2-acyloxy-4,6-dichloro-1,3,5-triazine is formed as an intermediate.

Rayle and Fellmeth⁷⁰ successfully used CC for the preparation of amides, and claim that 2,4,6-triacyloxy-1,3,5-triazine is an intermediate (Scheme 5).

A new route in the synthesis of diazo ketones was reported by the Forbes group. ⁷¹ Aryl carboxylic acids were activated by CC, and reacted with diazomethane (Scheme 6) to diazocarbonyl compounds with moderate yields. Unfortunately,

Figure 5.

R= alkyl, aralkyl aryl N-protected amino acid

Scheme 4.

Scheme 5.

$$\begin{array}{c|c} CI & O & R & O & R \\ \hline O & N & N & CH_3CN/THF \\ \hline CI & N & CI & K_2CO_3, 0^{\circ}C & R & O & R \\ \hline R = alkyl, aryl & CH_3CN/THF & O & R & O & R \\ \hline \end{array}$$

Scheme 6.

during this reaction a significant amount of methyl esters were formed as a by-product. This reaction was carried out in water, in a one-pot procedure, which is an advantage over other methods.

Bandgar and Pandit⁷² applied CC for synthesis of acyl azides directly from carboxylic acids (Scheme 7). Various aryl, heteroaryl, alkylaryl, and alkyl carboxylic acyl azides were obtained under mild conditions with high yields.

$$R \longrightarrow OH \xrightarrow{CC \cdot DMF} R \longrightarrow CI$$

R= alkyl, aralkyl, N-protected amino alcohol

Scheme 10.

The CC/DMF complex was also used for selective protection of primary alcohols by a formyl residue⁷⁸ (Scheme 11). Phenols, along with 2°, 3° benzylic, allylic, and propargylic

$$\begin{array}{c|c}
CI & & & & \\
R & OH & + & & \\
CI & N & CI & \\
R = alkyl, aralkyl, aryl
\end{array}$$

$$\begin{array}{c|c}
NaN_3 & R - C' \\
R & O & M & O & R
\end{array}$$

Scheme 7.

Recently, Giacomelli⁷⁴ reported a mild and simple one-step method for the preparation of hydroxamic acids. The carboxylic acid or *N*-protected α -amino acid was treated with CC in the presence of NMM followed by hydroxylamine hydrochloride (Scheme 8). Even though the reaction took 6–12 h, the purity and yields were high and no significant racemization was observed. No *O*-acyl or di and triacylated products were formed. Also, hydroxamic acids of *N*-protected dipeptides were obtained by this method.

Pg= Z, Boc, Fmoc-protecting group R= amino acid side chain

Scheme 8.

2,4,6-Trichloro-1,3,5-triazine was applied as a chlorinating agent for the preparation of sulfonyl chlorides from sulfonic acids under neutral conditions.⁷⁵ CC, sulfonic acids, and triethylamine or CC, sodium sulfonates, and catalytic amounts of 18-crown-6 acetone, after heating under reflux gave, good to excellent yields of alkyl and aryl sulfonyl chlorides (Scheme 9).

$$R-SO_{2}CI \xrightarrow{18-crown-6} R-SO_{3} \cdot Na^{+} + N \times N + R-SO_{3}H \xrightarrow{NEt_{3}} R-SO_{2}CI$$

$$R=alleyI and I$$

Scheme 9.

Although Sandler⁶⁰ used CC for the preparation of alkyl chlorides from their corresponding alcohols, Giacomelli⁷⁶ elegantly improved the reaction by using CC and a dimethylformamid adduct⁷⁷ for chlorination (Scheme 10). Also, alkyl bromides were obtained by addition of sodium bromide to the CC/DMF adduct. The method was very mild, efficient, and chemoselective. *N*-protected-β-aminochlorides were obtained from their corresponding amino alcohols as well as chloroalcohols from diols.

alcohols did not react in the given conditions. *N*-protected β -amino alcohols were also converted to *O*-formates with some exceptions.

R= alkyl, aralkyl, alkenyl

Scheme 11.

Ketoxime, upon treatment with the CC/DMF complex in dimethylformamide at room temperature, underwent the Beckmann rearrangement⁷⁹ with high yields and purity (Scheme 12). In the case of cyclic ketones, lactams were obtained in high yields. Aldoximes gave nitriles under the same conditions. Recently, other authors⁸⁰ performed a Beckmann rearrangement in acetonitrile using an acidic cocatalyst besides CC.

$$\begin{array}{c}
R \\
R_1
\end{array}$$

Scheme 12.

Cyanuric chloride catalyzes the oxidation of different types of thiols to disulfides using dimethylsulfoxide, resulting in high yields and purity. ⁸¹ De Luca et al. ⁸² used CC for activation of DMSO in the Swern oxidation (Scheme 13). A variety of aldehydes, ketones, and *N*-protected amino aldehydes were prepared with high yields.

Karimi⁸³ reported efficient deprotection of a variety of 1,3-dithioacetals and 1,3-oxathiolanes to their corresponding carbonyl compounds using CC. The reaction conditions were mild and time short, and the isolated products were pure and of high yields. 1,3-Oxathioacetals and 1,3 dithioacetals of enolizable ketones gave ring enlargement product derivatives, for example, see Scheme 14.

Scheme 13.

Scheme 14.

A very mild method for the conversion of formamides to isonitriles using CC in the presence of a base was recently published by Porcheddu et al.⁸⁴ They postulate that the reaction proceeds through the formation of an *O*-acylated intermediate (Scheme 15).

$$R \xrightarrow{H} O \xrightarrow{CC, \text{ base}} R-N \equiv C$$

Scheme 15.

Using microwave irradiation (MW), alkyl, cyclic, acyclic benzylic and aromatic, and optically active isonitriles were obtained in a matter of minutes with high yields.

6. Cyanuric chloride in solid-phase synthesis

Solid-phase synthesis, since it's discovery by Merifield, ⁸⁵ is now routinely used in automated synthesizers. ⁸⁶ Cyanuric chloride also found applications in solid-supported strategy.

Masala and Tadei⁶⁹ loaded CC on different types of amino functionalized resins. These new reagents were used for activation of carboxylic acids to give amides and dipeptides

(Scheme 16). A series of aliphatic and aromatic carboxylic acids, and primary and secondary amines, gave amides with good yields.

A new resin supported chlorinating reagent, based on CC, has been developed by Luo and co-workers. ⁶⁷ Cyanuric chloride, loaded on a modified Wang resin, was used for the preparation of acyl chlorides (Scheme 17). The acyl chlorides were not isolated, but were converted to their benzylamides or esters. The yields were good, but chiral amino acids were racemized.

Polyethylene glycol (MeO–PEG–OH) was reacted with CC to give PEG-dichlorotriazine, ⁸⁷ which was used as a soluble electrophilic scavenger that removes alcohols, thiols, triphenylphosphine, and phosphine oxide from the reaction mixture by selective precipitation and filtration (Scheme 18).

Marsh⁸⁸ loaded resins with *s*-triazine dendrimers, which have been used as proton and nucleophile scavengers **18** and **19**, respectively (Fig. 6) in the purification of combinatorially derived products.

7. 2-Chloro-4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazine in functional group transformation

2-Chloro-4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazine (CDMT) was recently found to have wide applications as a condensing reagent in peptide chemistry. The it is commercially available, but can also be easily synthesized. Activation of carboxylic acids by means of CDMT is a multi-step process, and was elegantly and thoroughly examined by Kaminski. As,90,91 It depends upon the specific reaction conditions, such as the order of addition of reagents.

Scheme 16.

Scheme 18.

Figure 6.

requires the presence of a tertiary amine, usually *N*-methylmorpholine (NMM). In standard procedure, the first step was reacting CDMT with NMM to form 4-(4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazin-2-yl)-4-methylmorpholinium chloride (DMTMM), and then the carboxylic acid was added in the next step generating an active ester **21** (Scheme 19), which subsequently gave with an amine the desired product.

No significant racemization was observed during the synthesis of peptides. Optical purity was found to be more that 99.5%. Another sequence of addition of reagents, e.g., mixing CDMT with carboxylic acid and NMM, stirring for 1 h, then adding amino acid ester, lead to significant racemization via formation of azlactone. Another protocol was suggested by Garrett et al. The reaction was provided in a one-pot, one-step procedure, i.e., they mixed CDMT with acid and amine reagents and then NMM to the reaction medium. No significant loss of configuration was observed,

and the reaction was finish faster. When chiral tertiary amines such as strychnine, brucine or sparteine were used instead of NMM, using CDMT in coupling of racemic *N*-protected amino acid with amino components, the reaction proceeds enantioselectively.⁹¹

4-(4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazin-2-yl)-4-methylmorpholinium chloride was isolated and fully characterized. ^{90,93} It is a stable compound that can be stored in the solid state at room temperature for up to a month or for several months in the refrigerator, without detectable decomposition. This reagent combined with carboxylic acid gave an active ester **21** (Scheme 19), and was used as condensing reagent for synthesis of esters and amides. ^{94–96}

Taddei⁹⁷ reported the application of DMTMM to the solidphase synthesis of peptides. The yields and purity of the products were high.

R= alkyl, aralkyl, aryl , N-protected amino acid or peptide R₁= alkyl, aralkyl, aryl, C-protected amino acid or peptide

Scheme 19.

Recently, Kaminski et al. 98 introduced 4-(4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazin-2-yl)-4-methylmorpholinium tetrafluoroborate as a more stable reagent than the corresponding DMTMM chloride. The new coupling reagent was used in ester and peptide synthesis, in solution, and in solid-phase synthesis.

DMTMM **21** (Scheme 20) can be generated by different protocols mentioned above. This active ester, without isolation was used for many transformation of carboxylic group.

Giacomelli et al. ⁹⁹ prepared it using CDMT and applied it to the synthesis of *N*-methoxy-*N*-methylamides, commonly named Weinreb amides **22** (Scheme 20), a useful precursor to ketones. ¹⁰⁰ A variety of these compounds were obtained quantitatively from carboxylic acids, and *N*-protected amino acids with high yields and purity. DMTMM was also used for this purpose, but the yields of Weinreb amides were lower.

It was reported that active ester **21** (Scheme 20), prepared from DMTMM was reduced by hydrogen and Pt/C as the

catalyst to the corresponding aldehyde **23** (Scheme 20) in good yields. Required optimization of the solvent, hydrogen pressure, temperature, and time of reduction are disadvantages to this method. Higher hydrogen pressure (5 atm) gave alcohols.

Activated esters of aromatic carboxylic acid, and *N*-Boc or *N*-Z protected α -amino acids were converted to ketones **25** (Scheme 20) or α -amino ketones by Grignard reagent in the presence of stoichiometric amounts of CuI.¹⁰²

Bandar and Pandit¹⁰³ reported the synthesis of 2-oxazolines **26** (Scheme 20) from acyloxy triazine. The active ester was reacted at room temperature with 2-amino-2-methyl-1-propanol giving the desired product with good yields.

The same conditions, were used for the selective preparation of monoacylated piperazine derivatives **27** (Scheme 20) with good yields. Monoacylation of symmetrical diamines often becomes problematic due to competitive bisacylation.

Figure 7.

Recently, active ester **21** of formic acid was used for the formylation of amines and α -amino acid esters **28** (Scheme 20). The reaction was conducted under reflux in methylene chloride, or under microwave irradiation to reduce the reaction time from hours to a few minutes. The yields were high, the products pure and no significant racemization of the chiral centers was observed.

Based on the reactivity of CC, Kunishima et al. ¹⁰⁶ published preliminary data about a new immobilized dehydrocondensing reagent in a polymerized form (Fig. 7). This polymer reacts with carboxylic acids, in the presence of a NMM like CDMT or DMTMM, giving active esters, which with amines, gave amides in good yields.

8. Applications of other derivatives of s-triazine in organic synthesis

Markowicz and Dembinski developed a fluorous 2-chloro-4,6-bis-[(heptadecafluorononyl)oxy]-1,3,5-triazine (FCDMT), an analog of CDMT, as a new coupling reagent in peptide synthesis. 107 It was prepared from CC and heptadecafluorononan-1-ol (Scheme 21), and fully characterized. It is believed that the mechanism of activation of a carboxylic acid by FCDMT is similar to that of CDMT (Scheme 19). The advantage of this method lies in nonaqueous and nonacidic isolation protocol. The fluorous by-product is insoluble in organic solvents. Extraction by chloroform or ethyl acetate gave, after filtration, di and tripeptides in excellent yields.

$$R-C \stackrel{O}{O} + \stackrel{F}{N} \stackrel{N}{N} = \frac{CH_2CI_2/py}{r.t.} \qquad R-C \stackrel{O}{F} + \stackrel{N}{F} \stackrel{N}{N} = \frac{CF}{N}$$

R= alkyl, aralkyl, cycloalkyl, aryl, N-Fmoc or N-Trt-amino acid residue

Scheme 22.

found less applications in organic synthesis. As a *N*-chloramine it was used mostly as a chlorination and oxidation agent, and was the subject of a review where references to it's different applications can be found.¹¹¹

Giacomelli applied TCICA for oxidation of primary alcohols, and N-protected-β-amino alcohols to aldehydes (Scheme 23). The reaction was fast (15–20 min), yields high, and no overoxidation to carboxylic acids was detected. The secondary alcohols can be oxidized to ketones, but the reaction requires more than 6 h for completion. Because of this, primary alcohols can be selectively oxidized in the presence of secondary alcohols.

Very recently other authors¹¹³ found that TCICA in the presence of catalytic amount of potassium bromide and wet silica gel selectively oxidized benzylic and secondary alcohols.

It was reported that TCICA, in the presence of free radical TEMPO, converts primary amines to their corre-

$$\begin{array}{c} \text{CI} \\ \text{N} \\ \text{N} \\ \text{CI} \end{array} + 2 \, \text{F}(\text{CF}_2)_8 \, \text{CH}_2 \, \text{OH} \qquad \begin{array}{c} 2.4.6 \, \text{-colidine} \\ \text{C}_6 \, \text{H}_5 \, \text{CF}_3 \end{array} \\ \hline \\ \text{F}(\text{CF}_2)_8 \, \text{CH}_2 \, \text{O} \qquad \text{N} \qquad \text{OCH}_2 \, (\text{CF}_2)_8 \, \text{F} \\ \hline \\ \text{FCDMT} \end{array}$$

Scheme 21.

2,4,6-Trifluoro-1,3,5-triazine CF (Scheme 22), with the common name of cyanuric fluoride, was prepared from CC. ¹⁰⁸ It easily converts carboxylic acids as well as *N*-Fmoc and *N*-Trt amino acids, to the corresponding fluorides, which in turn gave excellent yields in both solution and solid-phase peptide synthesis. ^{109,110} The fluorides were especially useful in the incorporation of sterically hindered amino acids without loss of configuration.

1,3,5-Trichloro-2,4,6-trioxo-*s*-triazine, with the commonly used name-trichloroisocyanuric acid (TCICA), is produced on a large scale for household and industry use, but has

sponding nitriles in mild conditions and with high yields (Scheme 23). 114

Frouzabadi et al. 115 published that TCICA is an efficient catalyst for the thioacetalization of aldehydes, and the transthioacetalization of O,O- and S,O-acetals (Scheme 24). The reaction was run at room temperature and was very selective in the presence of ketones.

Zolfigol et al. recently used TCICA to oxidize 1,3,5-trisubstituted pyrazolines to their corresponding pyrazoles (Scheme 25). 116 The reaction was run at room temperature

$$R-CN = \frac{\text{TEMPO}(1 \text{ mol}\%)}{\text{CH}_2\text{Cl}_2, 10^{\circ}\text{C}} R-CH_2\text{NH}_2 + \frac{\text{Cl}}{\text{Cl}_2} + \frac{\text{Cl}}{\text{N}_2\text{Ol}} + R-CH_2\text{OH} = \frac{\text{TEMPO}(0,01 \text{ mol}\%)}{\text{CH}_2\text{Cl}_2, r.t.} R = \text{alkyl, aryl, alkeny,}$$

Scheme 23.

R²= - OMe, -OEt; XX=O, -O(CH₂)₃O-,

- O(CH₂)₂S-, -O(CH₂)₂C(CH₂O)₂-

Scheme 24.

in carbon tetrachloride, or under solvent free conditions. In both cases the yields were good.

Scheme 25.

Trichloroisocyanuric acid was also applied for *N*-chlorination of amides, lactams, and carbamates as intermediates in organic synthesis. ¹¹⁷ Primary amides gave *N*-mono or *N*,*N*-dichloroamides, depending on the ratio of reagents and the reaction conditions (Scheme 26). Chlorination of amino acid carbamates does not need the protection of the carboxylic function.

$$R \xrightarrow[C]{O} 1, A \xrightarrow$$

Scheme 26.

Carboxylic acids can be converted to acid chlorides by a reaction with TCICA in the presence of triphenylphosphine under mild conditions. The acid chlorides were not isolated, but reaction with amines or alcohols afforded corresponding amides or esters (Scheme 27).

A very mild method for obtaining dialkyl chlorophosphates, by stirring TCICA with dialkyl phosphites in acetonitrile at room temperature was published (Scheme 28). ¹¹⁹ The reaction was finished in 10–15 min, giving products in excellent yields.

N-protected amino acid residue

Scheme 28.

Kunishima et al. 120 very recently reported synthesis of new reagents for introduction of Boc and Fmoc protective groups into amines. By reaction of 4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazin-2-ol (obtained from CC) with di-*tert*-butyl dicarbonate or with 9-fluorenylmethyl chloroformate, they obtained *tert*-butyl 2,4-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazinyl carbonate or 9-fluorenylmethyl 4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazinyl carbonate, respectively (Scheme 29). Both are stable nonirritating compounds, which allowed the introduction of Boc or Fmoc group into amines and amino acids in the range of minutes, without detectable side reactions.

$$\begin{array}{c|c} H_3CO & & \hline \\ N & & \\ O-R \\ \hline \\ H_3CO \\ \\ H_3CO \\ \end{array}$$

R= tert. butyl or 9 fluorenylmethyl

Scheme 29.

9. Conclusion

This paper has reviewed recently published applications of 2,4,6-trichloro-1,3,5-triazine, and its related derivatives in organic synthesis. Increased interest in CC lies in the different reactivities of chlorine atoms, which are easily controlled by temperature. It allows sequential introduction of various substituents into a s-triazine ring using a onepot procedure. These reagents also found applications in solid-phase synthesis by a combinatorial approach, as a template for peptides, for synthesis of dendrimers and noncovalently bonded supramolecular aggregates. Carboxylic acid's activation by CC or DMCT was used in many chemical transformations, and can be a valid alternative to other methods so as to avoid the use of toxic or expensive reagents. Sometimes the reactions needed hours to be completed, but these procedures have advantages over older methods in terms of yields, mildness, and green chemistry.

Further applications of cyanuric chloride and its derivatives can be expected.

Acknowledgements

Support from the Department of Chemistry and Biochemistry, University of Maryland Baltimore County is gratefully acknowledged. I thank Dr. R. M. Pollack for carefully reading the manuscript, for his critical comments, and valuable suggestions. I also thank Ms. N. Eaton for technical help.

References and notes

- Smolin, E. M.; Rapoport, L. s-Triazine and Derivatives in The Chemistry of Heterocyclic Compounds; Interscience: New York, NY, 1959.
- Mur, V. I. Russ. Chem. Rev. 1964, 33, 92–103 and references therein.
- 3. Quirke, M. E. 1,3,5-Triazines. *Comprehensive Heterocyclic Chemistry*; Katritzky, A. R., Rees, C. W., Eds.; Pergamon: New York, NY, 1984; Vol. 3, pp 457–530.
- Bartholomew, D. 1,3,5-Triazines. In *Comprehensive Heterocyclic Chemistry II*; Boulton, A. J., Ed.; Pergamon: Oxford, 1996; Vol. 6, p 575.
- Comins, D. L.; O'Connor. Advances in Heterocyclic Chemistry; Katritzky, A. R., Ed.; Academic: New York, NY, 1988; Vol. 44, p 243.
- Giacomelli, G.; Porcheddu, A.; De Luca, L. Curr. Org. Chem. 2004, 8, 1497–1519.
- Menicagli, R.; Malanga, C.; Peluso, P. Synth. Commun. 1994, 24, 2153–2158.
- 8. Samaritani, S.; Peluso, P.; Malanga, C.; Menicagli, R. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* **2002**, 1551–1555.
- Moon, H.-S.; Jacobson, E. M.; Khersonsky, S. M.; Luzung, M. R.; Walsh, D. P.; Xiong, W.; Lee, J. W.; Parikh, P. B.; Lam, J. C.; Kang, T.-W.; Rosania, G. R.; Schier, A. F.; Chang, Y.-T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 11608–11609.
- Bork, J. T.; Lee, J. W.; Cheng, Y.-T. Tetrahedron Lett. 2003, 44, 6141–6144.
- 11. Bork, J. T.; Lee, J. W.; Khersonsky, S. M.; Moon, H.-M.; Chang, Y.-T. *Org. Lett.* **2003**, *5*, 117–120.
- Hollink, E.; Simanek, E. E.; Bergbreiter, D. E. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2005, 46, 2005–2008.
- Falorni, M.; Giacomelli, G.; Mameli, L.; Porcheddu, A. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 7607–7610.
- Tahmassebi, D. C.; Sasaki, T. J. Org. Chem. 1994, 59, 679–681.
- Tahmassebi, D. C.; Sasaki, T. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 728–731.
- Shin, Y.; Liu, J.; Wang, L.-Q.; Nie, Z.; Samuels, W. D.; Fryxell, G. E.; Exarhos, G. J. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2000, 39, 2702–2707.
- Gustafson, G. R.; Baldino, C. M.; O'Donnell, M.-M.;
 Sheldon, A.; Tarsa, R. J.; Verni, C. J.; Coffen, D. L.
 Tetrahedron 1998, 54, 4051–4065.
- Varaprasad, C. V.; Habib, Q.; Li, D. Y.; Huang, J.; Abt, J. W.; Rong, F.; Hong, Z.; An, H. *Tetrahedron* 2003, 59, 2297–2307.
- Hysell, M.; Siegel, J. S.; Tor, Y. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2005, 3, 2946–2952.

- Yang, X.; Lowe, C. R. Tetrahedron Lett. 2003, 44, 1359– 1362.
- 21. Wang, M.-X.; Yang, H.-B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2004**, 126, 15412–15422.
- Löwik, D. W. P. M.; Lowe, C. R. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 2825–2839.
- Engrand, P.; Regnouf-de-Vains, J.-B. Tetrahedron Lett. 2002, 43, 8863–8866.
- Carofiglio, T.; Varotto, A.; Tonellato, U. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69, 8121–8124.
- 25. Ichihara, K.; Naruta, Y. Chem. Lett. 1995, 631-632.
- Zerkowski, J. A.; Hensley, L. M.; Abramowitz, D. Synlett 2002, 557–560.
- Azev, Y. A.; Dülcks, T.; Gabel, D. Tetrahedron Lett. 2003, 44, 8689–8691.
- Lee, C.-H.; Lim, H.-G.; Nakamura, H.; Kang, S. O. Appl. Organomet. Chem. 2003, 17, 539–548.
- Ronchi, S.; Prosperi, D.; Compostella, F.; Panza, L. Synlett 2004, 1007–1010.
- 30. McNamara, C. A.; King, F.; Bradley, M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2004**, *45*, 8527–8529.
- 31. Guo, Q.; Xie, Y.; Wang, X.; Zhang, S.; Hou, T.; Lv, S. *Chem. Commun.* **2004**, 26–27.
- 32. Pozzi, G.; Cavazzini, M.; Holczknecht, O.; Quici, S.; Shepperson, I. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2004**, *45*, 4249–4251.
- 33. Piera, E.; Comelles, F.; Erra, P.; Infante, M. R. *J. Chem. Soc.*, *Perkin Trans.* 2 **1998**, 335–342.
- 34. Zhang, W.; Simanek, E. E. Org. Lett. 2000, 2, 843–845.
- 35. Zhang, W.; Nowlan, D. T.; Thomson, L. M.; Lackowski, W.; Simanek, E. E. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2001**, *123*, 8914–8922.
- Zhang, W.; Simanek, E. E. Tetrahedron Lett. 2001, 42, 5355– 5357.
- Zhang, W.; Tichy, S. E.; Pérez, L. M.; Maria, G. C.; Lindahl,
 P. A.; Simanek, E. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 5086–5094.
- Steffensen, M.; Simanek, E. E. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2004, 43, 5178–5180.
- Chen, H.-T.; Neerman, M. F.; Parrish, A. R.; Simanek, E. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 10044–10048.
- Steffensen, M. B.; Simanek, E. E. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 2359– 2361.
- 41. Lai, L. L.; Wang, L. Y.; Lee, C. H.; Lin, Y. C.; Cheng, K. L. *Org. Lett.* **2006**, *8*, 1541–1544.
- 42. Lehn, J. M.; Mascal, M.; DeCian, A.; Fisher, J. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1990, 479–480.
- Mathias, J. P.; Seto, C. T.; Simanek, E. E.; Whitesides, G. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 1725–1736.
- 44. Timmerman, P.; Weidemann, J.-L.; Jolliffe, K. A.; Prins, L. J.; Reinhoudt, D. N.; Shinkai, S.; Frish, L.; Cohen, Y. *J. Chem. Soc.*, *Perkin Trans.* 2 **2000**, 2077–2089.
- Lipkowski, P.; Bielejewska, A.; Kooijman, H.; Spek, A. L.; Timmerman, P.; Reinhoudt, D. N. *Chem. Commun.* 1999, 1311–1312.
- Prins, L. J.; Jolliffe, K. A.; Hulst, R.; Timmerman, P.; Reinhoudt, D. N. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 3617–3627.
- Prins, L. J.; Neuteboom, E. E.; Parashiv, V.; Crego-Calama, M.; Timmerman, P.; Reinhoudt, D. N. *J. Org. Chem.* **2002**, 67, 4808–4820.
- Arduini, M.; Crego-Calama, M.; Timmerman, P.; Reinhoudt,
 D. N. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 1097–1106.
- Archer, E. A.; Goldberg, N. T.; Lynch, V.; Krische, M. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 5006–5007.

- Archer, E. A.; Cauble, D. F.; Lynch, V.; Krische, M. J. Tetrahedron 2002, 58, 721–725.
- Archer, E. A.; Krische, M. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 5074–5083.
- Timmerman, P.; Vreekamp, R. H.; Hulst, R.; Verboom, W.; Reinhoudt, D. N.; Rissanen, K.; Udachin, K. A.; Ripmeester, J. Chem.—Eur. J. 1997, 3, 1823–1832.
- Perdigao, L. M. A.; Champness, N. R.; Beton, H. P. Chem. Commun. 2006, 538–540.
- Lawrence, D. S.; Jiang, T.; Levett, M. Chem. Rev. 1995, 95, 2229–2260.
- Conn, M. M.; Rebek, J., Jr. Chem. Rev. 1997, 97, 1647– 1668.
- Timmerman, P.; Prins, L. J. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 3191–3205.
- Mateos-Timoneda, M. A.; Crego-Calama, M.; Reinhoudt,
 D. N. *Chem.*—*Eur. J.* **2006**, *12*, 2630–2638.
- Larock, R. C. Comprehensive Organic Transformation; VCH: New York, NY, 1989.
- 59. Senier, A. Chem. Ber. 1886, 19, 310-312.
- 60. Sandler, S. R. J. Org. Chem. 1970, 35, 3967-3970.
- Venkataramen, K.; Wagle, D. R. Tetrahedron Lett. 1979, 32, 3037–3040.
- Lahoti, R. J.; Wagle, D. R. Indian J. Chem. 1981, 20B, 852– 855.
- Lahoti, R. J.; Wagle, D. R. *Indian J. Chem.* 1981, 20B, 1007– 1008.
- 64. Olah, G. A.; Fung, A. P.; Gupta, B. G. B.; Narang, S. C. *Synthesis* **1980**, 221.
- Olah, G. A.; Narang, S. C.; Fung, A. P.; Gupta, B. G. B. Synthesis 1980, 657–658.
- Chakrabarti, J. K.; Hotten, T. M. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1972, 1226–1227.
- Luo, G.; Xu, L.; Poindexter, G. S. Tetrahedron Lett. 2002, 43, 8909–8912.
- 68. Falorni, M.; Porcheddu, A.; Tadei, M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1999**, 40, 4395–4396.
- 69. Masala, S.; Tadei, M. Org. Lett. 1999, 1, 1355-1357.
- Rayle, H. L.; Fellmeth, L. Org. Process Res. Dev. 1999, 3, 172–176.
- 71. Forbes, D. C.; Barrett, E. J.; Lewis, D. L.; Smith, M. C. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2000**, *41*, 9943–9947.
- Bandgar, B. P.; Pandit, S. S. Tetrahedron Lett. 2002, 43, 3413–3414.
- Kaminski, Z. J. Biopolimers (Pept. Sci) 2000, 55, 140– 164
- Giacomelli, G.; Porcheddu, A.; Salaris, M. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 2715–2717.
- 75. Blotny, G. Tetrahedron Lett. 2003, 44, 1499-1501.
- De Luca, L.; Giacomelli, G.; Porcheddu, A. *Organic Lett.* 2002, 4, 553–555.
- 77. Gold, H. Angew. Chem. 1960, 72, 956-959.
- De Luca, L.; Giacomelli, G.; Porcheddu, A. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 67, 5152–5155.
- De Luca, L.; Giacomelli, G.; Porcheddu, A. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 67, 6272–6274.
- 80. Furuya, Y.; Ishihara, K.; Yamamoto, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2005**, 127, 11240–11241.
- Karimi, B.; Hazarkhami, H.; Zareyee, D. Synthesis 2002, 2513–2516.
- 82. De Luca, L.; Giacomelli, G.; Porcheddu, A. *J. Org. Chem.* **2001**, *66*, 7907–7909.
- 83. Karimi, B.; Hazarkhani, H. Synthesis 2003, 2547-2551.

- 84. Porcheddu, A.; Giacomelli, G.; Salaris, M. *J. Org. Chem.* **2005**, *70*, 2361–2363.
- 85. Merifield, R. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1963, 85, 2149-2154.
- 86. Kates, S. A.; Albericio, F. *Solid-Phase Synthesis: A Practical Guide*; Marcel Dekker: New York, NY, 2000.
- 87. Falchi, A.; Tadei, M. Org. Lett. 2000, 2, 3429-3431.
- 88. Marsh, A.; Carlisle, S. J.; Smith, S. C. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2001**, 42, 493–496.
- Cronin, J. S.; Ginah, F. O.; Murray, A. R.; Copp, J. D. Synth. Commun. 1996, 26, 3491–3494.
- Kaminski, Z. J.; Paneth, P.; Rudzinski, J. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 4248–4255.
- Kaminski, Z. J.; Kolesinska, B.; Kaminska, J. E.; Gora, J. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 6276–6281.
- 92. Garrett, C. E.; Jiang, X.; Prasad, K.; Repic, O. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2002**, *43*, 4161–4165.
- 93. Kunishima, M.; Kawachi, C.; Iwasaki, F.; Terao, K.; Tani, S. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1999**, *40*, 5327–5330.
- 94. Kunishima, M.; Kawachi, C.; Morita, J.; Terao, K.; Iwasaki, F.; Tani, S. *Tetrahedron* **1999**, *55*, 13159–13170.
- Kunishima, M.; Morita, J.; Kawachi, C.; Iwasaki, F.; Terao, K.; Tani, S. Synlett 1999, 1255–1256.
- Kunishima, M.; Kawachi, C.; Hioki, K.; Terao, K.; Tani, S. Tetrahedron 2001, 57, 1551–1558.
- Falchi, A.; Giacomelli, G.; Porcheddu, A.; Taddei, M. *Synlett* 2000, 275–277.
- 98. Kaminski, Z. J.; Kolesinska, B.; Kolesinska, J.; Sabatino, G.; Chelli, M.; Rovero, P.; Blaszczyk, M.; Glowka, M. L.; Papini, A. M. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2005**, *127*, 16912–16920.
- De Luca, L.; Giacomelli, G.; Taddei, M. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 2534–2537.
- 100. Nahm, S.; Weinreb, S. M. Tetrahedron Lett. **1981**, 22, 3815–3818
- Falorni, M.; Giacomelli, G.; Porcheddu, A.; Tadei, M. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 8962–8964.
- 102. De Luca, L.; Giacomelli, G.; Porcheddu, A. *Org. Lett.* **2001**, *3*, 1519–1521.
- Bandgar, B. P.; Pandit, S. S. Tetrahedron Lett. 2003, 44, 2331– 2333.
- Bandgar, B. P.; Pandit, S. S. Tetrahedron Lett. 2003, 44, 3855– 3858.
- De Luca, L.; Giacomelli, G.; Porcheddu, A.; Salaris, M. Synlett 2004, 2570–2572.
- 106. Kunishima, M.; Yamamoto, K.; Watanabe, Y.; Hioki, K.; Tani, S. *Chem. Commun.* **2005**, 2698–2700.
- Markowicz, M. W.; Dembinski, R. Synthesis 2004, 80–86.
- Olah, G. A.; Nojima, M.; Kerekes, I. Synthesis 1973, 487– 488
- Karygiannis, G.; Athanassopoulos, C.; Mamos, P.; Karamanos, N.; Papaioannou, D.; Francis, G. W. Acta Chem. Scand. 1998, 52, 1144–1150.
- 110. Carpino, L. A.; Ionescu, D.; El-Faham, A.; Beyermann, M.; Henklein, P.; Hanay, C.; Wenschuh, H.; Bienert, M. *Org. Lett.* **2003**, *5*, 975–977 and references therein.
- Tilstam, U.; Weinmann, H. Org. Process Res. Dev. 2002, 6, 384–393.
- 112. De Luca, L.; Giacomelli, G.; Porcheddu, A. *Org. Lett.* **2001**, *3*, 3041–3043.
- 113. Zolfigol, M. A.; Shirini, F.; Choghamarani, A. G. *Synthesis* **2006**, 2043–2046.
- 114. Chen, F.-E.; Kuang, Y.-Y.; Dai; Lu, L.; Huo, M. *Synthesis* **2003**, 2629–2631.

- 115. Frouzabadi, H.; Iranpoor, N.; Hazarkhani, H. *Synlett* **2001**, 1641–1643.
- Zolfigol, M. A.; Azarifar, D.; Maleki, B. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2004, 45, 2181–2183.
- 117. De Luca, L.; Giacomelli, G.; Nieddu, G. *Synlett* **2005**, 223–226.
- 118. Rodrigues, R. C.; Barros, I. M. A.; Lima, E. L. S. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2005**, *46*, 5945–5947.
- Acharya, J.; Gupta, A. K.; Shakya, P. D.; Kaushik, M. P. Tetrahedron Lett. 2005, 46, 5293–5295.
- 120. Hioki, K.; Kinugasa, M.; Kishimoto, M.; Fujiwara, M.; Tani, S.; Kunishima, M. *Synthesis* **2006**, 1931–1933.

Biographical sketch



Grzegorz Blotny was born in Bydgoszcz (Poland). He studied chemistry at Gdansk Technical University (Gdansk, Poland) and completed his PhD in the field of peptide chemistry in 1966 with Emil Taschner and Zygmunt Ledochowski. As faculty at Gdansk Technical University, he completed his habilitation in 1983. During the period of 1983–1984, he was a visiting scientist at N.I.H. (USA). In 1985 he moved to the University of Maryland Baltimore County (Baltimore, USA), where he is a Research Associate Professor. His research interests focus on peptide chemistry and the development of new methodologies in organic synthesis.